**RECEIVED**

**Apr 09 2024**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Bentley D. Price, Circuit Court Judge

---

Magistrate Case No. 2022-CV-1011000100  
Trial Court Case No. 2022-CP-1004780  
Appellate Case No. 2023-001414

Family Dollar Stores of South Carolina, LLC  
successor by merger of Family Dollar Stores of  
South Carolina, Inc.,

Appellant,

v.

1260 E Butler Road Self Storage, LLC and 3575  
Maybank, LLC,

Respondents.

---

**APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF**

---

M. Kevin McCarrell (SC Bar No. 76255)  
Sarah M. Traynor (SC Bar No. 106174)  
FOX ROTHSCHILD LLP

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

- I. Did the magistrate court err in finding that there was no genuine issue of material fact regarding whether Family Dollar had timely commenced the process to cure any alleged default?
- II. Did the magistrate court err in finding that the defaults alleged by Landlord were significantly material to warrant ejection?
- III. Did the magistrate court err in finding that Landlord's default notices were sufficient, despite failing to provide sufficient time to cure?

## **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

This matter involves the shopping center located at 3575 Maybank Highway, Johns Island, SC 29455 (the "Property") owned by Respondents, 1260 E Butler Road Self Storage, LLC and 3575 Maybank, LLC (collectively, in the singular, "Landlord"). Since 1992, Appellant, Family Dollar Stores of South Carolina, LLC ("Family Dollar"), has rented a portion of the Property ("the Store") under the terms of a lease, as amended (the "Lease"). (R. pp. 12-44). Family Dollar is a general discount retail store providing a low-cost shopping venue for the communities it serves. (R. p. 170-171, ¶ 3). During the COVID-19 pandemic, Family Dollar employees were generally considered essential workers. (R. p. 171, ¶ 4).

The Lease provides that, after notice of an alleged default from Landlord, Tenant has thirty (30) days (i) to cure, (ii) be in the process of curing, or (iii) have a bona fide dispute. (R. p. 22). Family Dollar paid – and Respondents acknowledge – every penny of rent required under the terms of the Lease. However, more than three decades into its tenancy, Landlord sent three letters to Tenant couched as notices of default, dated March 1, 2022, April 28, 2022, and May 19, 2022, respectively (the "Default Notices"). (R. pp. 48-64). None of the Default Notices suggested that Tenant had failed to timely pay all rent due. Instead, the Default Notices each set forth a myriad of alleged defaults – most of which are not significantly material – and do not appear to rank the

items in order of importance. Additionally, each of the Default Notices make reference to the riser room being “blocked,” among other issues, including broken ceiling tiles, cracked floor tiles, faded paint on the walls, dirty windows, an improperly placed ice machine, sale items on the sidewalk, an HVAC unit leak, and minor parking lot damage. Family Dollar submitted evidence that, sometime in April or May 2022, after verbal instruction from Landlord, an employee of Tenant immediately ensured that access to the riser room was clear. (R. pp. 184-185).

Thereafter, on June 2, 2022, the Charleston Fire Department directed the Store to close due to various fire code concerns. Importantly, blocked access to the riser room was *not* one of the items of concern listed by the fire marshal. (R. pp. 45-47). District Manager Chris Anton personally took steps after learning of the June 2 notice to try to make sure any concerns of the Fire Department were resolved. (R. pp. 171-172, ¶ 12). He believed the concerns to be cured. *Id.* Unfortunately, upon its second inspection on or around July 2, 2022, the Fire Department still had concerns, and directed Family Dollar to close the Store until another inspection could be completed. (R. p. 172, ¶ 13). On July 27, 2022, the Fire Marshal conducted a third inspection finding no fire code violations and indicating that the Store was clear to continue normal operations. (R. p. 172, ¶ 14).

Through its upfits of the Leased Premises and the investments in advertising and goodwill, Tenant has made a substantial investment in its position within the Leased Premises in reliance on its rights, including quiet enjoyment, pursuant to the Lease. (R. p. 38). The Store had experienced significant turnover at the store manager level, including significant gaps during the March 2022 to July 2022 timeframe of which Landlord complains during which there was no store manager. (R. p. 171, ¶¶ 8-9). However, since July 2022, all of the minor issues raised by Landlord have

been corrected, and upon additional inspections, the Fire Marshal has found no further violations. (R. pp. 170-172).

Landlord filed this eviction action on June 22, 2022 seeking to eject Family Dollar from the commercial retail shopping center located at 3575 Maybank Highway, Johns Island, SC. The magistrate court held a hearing on September 27, 2022 on the parties' cross-motions for summary judgment. Family Dollar submitted evidence to the magistrate court that it cured, was in the process of curing, or had a bona fide dispute over the items set forth in Respondents' Default Notices. However, the magistrate court entered summary judgment in favor of the Landlord.

Pursuant to Mag. Rule 18, Appellant appealed the magistrate's order to the circuit court on October 13, 2022, and oral argument was heard before the Honorable Bentley Price on May 31, 2023. The circuit court affirmed the magistrate court's order by way of Form 4 dated August 7, 2023, and corresponding written Order on August 14, 2023. Appellant filed its Notice of Appeal with this Court on September 6, 2023.

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

Summary judgment is a "drastic remedy which should be cautiously invoked so no person will be improperly deprived of a trial of the disputed factual issues. *Schmidt v. Courtney*, 357 S.C. 310, 318 (S.C. Ct. App. 2003)(internal citations omitted). In reviewing a motion for summary judgment, the appellate court applies the same standard of review as the trial court. *Companion Property & Casualty Insurance v. Airborne Express, Inc.*, 369 S.C. 388, 390 (S.C. Ct. App. 2006). Summary judgment should be granted if "the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." Rule 56(c), SCRCF; *see also Legette v. Piggly Wiggly, Inc.*, 368 S.C. 576, 579, 629 S.E.2d 375, 376 (Ct. App. 2006). When examining a motion for summary judgment, the "evidence and all

inferences reasonably drawn therefrom must be viewed in the light most favorable to the non-moving party.” *Strother v. Lexington Cnty Recreation Comm’n*, 332 S.C. 54, 61, 504 S.E.2d 117, 121 (1998) (citing *Hamiter v. Retirement Div. of SC*, 326 S.C. 93, 484 S.E.2d 586 (1997)). When evidence is susceptible to more than one reasonable inference, the issue should be submitted to the jury. *Vaughan v. Town of Lyman*, 370 S.C. 436, 448, 635 S.E.2d 631, 638 (2006).

### ARGUMENT

Family Dollar is a valuable asset to the John’s Island / Wadmalaw community, providing a low-cost shopping venue for those in the community who need it most, including throughout the COVID-19 pandemic, in which its workers were deemed essential workers<sup>1</sup> due to providing food products and other items determined to be critical to the community’s infrastructure. Local residents would undoubtedly be worse off if Family Dollar is forcibly ejected from its location at the shopping center at the corner of Maybank Highway and Bohicket Road. That would especially be so if Family Dollar were forcibly ejected without a trial on the merits after it has submitted evidence showing it acted to cure the alleged defaults within the time permitted under the Lease.

The relevant portion of the Lease, Section 18, is captioned “Forfeiture for Failure to Pay Rent.” (R. p. 82). Read as part of the Lease, the caption suggests that Family Dollar would only be subject to forfeiture for failure to pay rent, not other types of defaults. Section 18 of the Lease provides:

If the Tenant defaults in the performance of any covenant or condition of this lease which is not cured ***or in the process of being cured, unless in the case of a bona-fide dispute***, within thirty (30) days after receipt of written notice by Tenant . . . then and in such case it shall and may be lawful for the said Landlord, at its option, to declare the said term ended and enter into said premises or any part thereof, either with or without process of law, and expel the said Tenant, or any person or persons occupying, in or upon said premises, using such force as may be necessary to do so, and so to

---

<sup>1</sup> See e.g., <https://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/covid-19/categories-essential-workers.html>

repossess and enjoy the said premises as in the landlord's former estate."<sup>2</sup> (emphasis added).

Based on the language of the forfeiture provision and applicable case law, there is a genuine issue of material fact sufficient to warrant reversal.

**1. The magistrate court's decision rests on a significant misstatement of fact.**

As set forth above, Family Dollar timely paid all rent due. However, Landlord asserts that a few minor operational concerns constitute a sufficient default to merit eviction and forfeiture of Family Dollar's significant investment in the premises. The magistrate court acknowledged that most of Landlord's alleged defaults contained issues of material fact due to Family Dollar's factual disputes of the alleged defaults. Ultimately, the magistrate court relied on only one alleged default in granting summary judgment: an alleged obstruction of the riser room creating an alleged fire hazard. Importantly, the magistrate court held that the alleged obstruction remained in place from the first notice of default dated March 1, 2022 to the Fire Marshal closing the Store on June 2, 2022, and that there was no evidence that Family Dollar had timely commenced efforts to resolve the issue. (R. p. 3). However, this conclusion is based on an incorrect statement of fact because the June 2, 2022 Fire Marshall Notice did not include obstruction of the riser room as a concern. Therefore, the circuit court's conclusion that the decision and judgment of the magistrate court "was not affected by any material error of fact" is simply incorrect. (R. p. 213, ¶ 1).

**2. The evidence presented by Family Dollar to the magistrate court created a genuine issue of material fact regarding whether it timely commenced the process to cure any alleged defaults.**

The terms of the Lease expressly provide Family Dollar an opportunity to cure any defaults; within thirty days of the Landlord serving notice of an alleged default, Family Dollar

---

<sup>2</sup> Despite such language in the Lease, South Carolina has never recognized a right to self-help repossession in this state, and Family Dollar asserts that Landlord would be liable for wrongful ejection if it attempted to do so.

need only be *in the process of* curing the alleged default to remain in compliance with the Lease. (R. p. 22).

The magistrate court incorrectly held that there was no material dispute of fact regarding whether Family Dollar timely began its attempts to cure Landlord's alleged default with respect to an alleged blockage of the riser room. (R. p. 3). As discussed above, Landlord's first Notice of Default dated March 1, 2022 does, in fact, reference an alleged obstruction to the riser room. (R. pp. 48-49). However, while the Fire Department Violation Notice listed several minor violations, blocking access to the riser room was not one of them. (R. pp. 45-47). Thus, the magistrate court's entire holding hinges on an incorrect factual assertion that blocked access to the riser room was an enumerated violation listed by the Fire Marshal in June 2022, which is clearly refuted by the documented evidence.

Moreover, Family Dollar submitted a Supplemental Affidavit of Star Quinn, an employee of Family Dollar. (R. pp. 184-185). Ms. Quinn averred that she was working at the Store in April and May 2022. (R. p. 184, ¶ 2). At an unknown date, a representative of Landlord inspected the Store and directed her to clear out the back storage area to ensure unobstructed access to the riser room, which Ms. Quinn accomplished the same day. (R. p. 184, ¶¶ 3-5). Ms. Quinn further noted that the Fire Marshal's June 2, 2022 Notice did not find any violation based on blocked access to the riser room. (R. p. 184, ¶ 6). Ms. Quinn's testimony, at a minimum, creates an issue of material fact sufficient to survive summary judgment because Ms. Quinn may have cleared the storage area as early as the first week of April, which would have been within thirty (30) days of Family Dollar's receipt of the original Default Notice.

Finally, the timeline set forth by Landlord suggests that Family Dollar was attempting to cure Landlord's alleged defaults as a whole within the 30 days prescribed by the Lease. Landlord's

initial demand letter dated March 1, 2022 contains a litany of minor complaints to be addressed by Family Dollar, and the evidence is clear that Family Dollar immediately began addressing them. Specifically, Landlord complained of (i) chipped floor tiles, faded paint, and ceiling tiles in need of replacement, (ii) an ice machine and other sale items on the shopping center sidewalk, (iii) an obstruction to the riser room, and (iv) alleged parking lot damage. (R. pp. 48-49). Addressing each in turn:

- (i) Landlord's aesthetic concerns over paint and tiles were timely addressed. As evidenced by Landlord's demand letter dated May 19, 2022, the paint and tiles were no longer outstanding issues. (R. p. 58). In order to have maintenance work done, Family Dollar would have been required to place work orders and line up the vendors to accomplish the tasks. Therefore, it is evident that Family Dollar began the process within 30 days of the date of Landlord's demand letter.
- (ii) Landlord acknowledged that the ice machine was removed from the sidewalk (although this led to further demands to pressure wash the store window front). (R. p. 53).
- (iii) Landlord's final demand letter no longer considered sale items on the sidewalk to be a concern. (R. pp. 58-60).
- (iv) After working with the marshal through two inspections, the fire marshal cleared the Store to continue its operations. (R. p. 172, ¶ 14).
- (v) Family Dollar has a bona fide dispute with respect to the alleged parking lot damage. The alleged damage appears to be normal wear and tear on the parking lot. (R. p. 172 ¶, 15(g)).

Landlord's final demand letter adds additional complaints regarding (i) an HVAC leak, (ii) a dirty window, and (iii) closure of the Store due to the HVAC leak. As with the items above, the issues have been addressed: the HVAC has been repaired, the window has been cleaned, and the Store continues to operate. (R. p. 172, ¶ 15).

Read as a whole, the Notices of Default reveal a relentless Landlord bent on evicting Family Dollar, perhaps because Landlord thinks Family Dollar is too low-brow for its shopping center. As seen from month-to-month, Family Dollar was left playing a game of whack-a-mole where, after it addressed one issue, Landlord would find additional issues to complain about. Therefore, the court should consider when Family Dollar commenced efforts to resolve the entire list of Landlord's concerns, rather than considering only one alleged default in isolation. The evidence is clear that Family Dollar began working to resolve Landlord's laundry list of items well before the required April 6, 2022 date, which is thirty (30) days after receipt of the initial notice.

Therefore, because (i) the magistrate's ruling rests on an incorrect factual holding about the Fire Marshal's violations, (ii) Family Dollar submitted evidence that it timely commenced efforts to cure any alleged blockage of the riser room, and (iii) when considered as a whole, it is clear that Family Dollar was addressing the entire list of Landlord's concerns within the time prescribed by the Lease, the magistrate court erred in finding that there were no disputes of material fact.

**3. The defaults alleged by Landlord were not sufficiently material to warrant ejection.**

South Carolina recognizes the equitable maxim that equity abhors forfeiture. *Litchfield Co. of S.C. v. Kiriakides*, 290 S.C. 220, 226, 349 S.E.2d 344, 348 (Ct. App. 1986) (“while the tenant has breached some of the lease provisions, none were so substantial or fundamental as to constitute a material breach justifying the forfeiture urged by the Defendant.”)

Landlord relies on minor operational concerns, which have been cured, to demand eviction of Family Dollar. As in *Kiriakides* above, such alleged lease violations are not so substantial or fundamental as to constitute a material breach justifying Landlord's demanded forfeiture. Running a store is a complex task, and managers are constantly required to address various matters as they arise. At all relevant times, Family Dollar was in the process of resolving, or had resolved, Landlord's concerns, including replacing ceiling tiles, moving an ice machine, and the like. However, Landlord continuously sought to nitpick any minor issue in its quest to oust Family Dollar from the premises. Although Landlord's motives have been obscured through its refusal to communicate or negotiate a resolution of this matter, it seems likely that Landlord believes it can now obtain a higher rental rate than its predecessor negotiated in the last amendment dated July 2011 due to rising property values in the area. Contrary to Landlord's inflammatory reference to the Store as a "pig sty" (sic), (R. p. 70, ¶ 21), Family Dollar has resolved all of the concerns of the Fire Marshal and the Landlord and continues to serve the community. Family Dollar has a substantial investment in the leased premises in reliance on its right to continue operating through expiration on December 31, 2027. Therefore, equity demands that it not be required to forfeit its leasehold interest.

**4. Landlord's default notices were deficient.**

As set forth in Section 18 of the Lease, Family Dollar was entitled to thirty (30) days to cure, or be in the process of curing, any alleged defaults, after receipt of written notice. Each of the demand letters upon which Landlord relies insisted that Family Dollar cure the alleged defaults "within ten (10) days from the date hereof to avoid further legal action," rather than being in the process of curing within 30 days, as required by the Lease. (R. pp. 48-64). Moreover, by calculating its threats from the date of the letter, rather than the date that Family Dollar received written notice, Landlord further deviated from the terms of the Lease. Because Landlord's demand

letters were defective, and no proper notice was given or received under Section 18 of the Lease, Landlord should not be entitled to eviction of Family Dollar from the premises.

**CONCLUSION**

For the reasons set forth above, Family Dollar respectfully requests this Court reverse the trial court's affirmation of summary judgment and remand to the magistrate court for a trial.