**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SOUTH CAROLINA COURT OF APPEALS**

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
The Honorable Bentley Price, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

APR 11 2024

SC Court of Appeals

Magistrate Case No. 2022-CV-10-11000100
Trial Court Case No. 2022-CP-10-04780
Appellate Case No. 2023-001414

Family Dollar Stores of South Carolina, LLC
successor by merger of Family Dollar Stores of South Carolina, Inc.,

Appellant,

vs.

1260 E Butler Road Self Storage, LLC and 3575 Maybank, LLC,

Respondents.

RESPONDENTS' FINAL BRIEF

Brendan P. Langendorfer (SC Bar No. 71971)
Langendorfer Law Firm, LLC
P.O. Box 68
Mount Pleasant, SC 29465
(843) 501-0469

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

ARGUMENT

A. Background

Respondents are small local businesses located in Charleston and own the shopping center found at 3575 Maybank Highway, Johns Island (the "Property"). The Property contains multiple lessees in addition to Appellant. Under section 12 of the subject Lease, as amended, Appellant is required to maintain the interior of the demised premises in a clean and safe condition. (R. p. 18). Pursuant to section 18 of the Lease, Appellant has 30 days from its receipt of notice of default to cure (or be in the process of curing) a non-monetary default. (R. p. 22) and Affidavit of Tracy Watson in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment ("Watson Aff.") at ¶ 5 (R. p. 67).

The Charleston Fire Marshal Division enforces the 2021 International Fire Code, National Fire Protection Association (NFPA) codes and standards referenced in the IFC or as adopted by

the State of South Carolina, and various City ordinances. Code of the City of Charleston, South Carolina, Sec. 13-76.

Section 901.4.6 of the 2021 International Fire Code provides –

901.4.6 Pump and riser room size.

Where provided, fire pump rooms and automatic sprinkler system riser rooms shall be designed with adequate space for all equipment necessary for the installation, as defined by the manufacturer, with sufficient working space around the stationary equipment. Clearances around equipment to elements of permanent construction, including other installed equipment and appliances, shall be sufficient to allow inspection, service, repair or replacement without removing such elements of permanent construction or disabling the function of a required fire-resistance-rated assembly. Fire pump and automatic sprinkler system riser rooms shall be provided with doors and unobstructed passageways large enough to allow removal of the largest piece of equipment.

1. Appellant’s Breach of the Lease

On March 1, 2022, Respondents sent notice of Lease defaults to Appellant. Watson Aff. at ¶¶ 6-7 (R. p. 67 and R. pp. 108-112). Among other things, Respondents sent written notice to Appellant of its violation of the Charleston Fire Code by obstructing the riser room. Watson Aff. at ¶ 7 and Exhibit E annexed thereto. (R. p. 67 and R. p 109). According to the proof of delivery, Appellant received the notice of default on March 7, 2022. Affidavit of Shannon Lhotsky (“Lhotsky Aff.”) at ¶ 6 (R. pp. 143, 147). To cure the fire hazard, Appellant needed to clear the blocked riser room by moving boxes and other items that were preventing proper access to the riser room no later than April 6, 2022, or be in the process of doing so by April 6. Lohtsky Aff. at ¶ 7 (R. p. 143).

2. Appellant’s Failure to Cure

Appellant failed to cure the default within 30 days of its receipt of the written notice of default. Watson Aff. at ¶ 8 (R. p. 67) and Lohtsky Aff. at ¶¶ 7-8 (R. p. 143). On April 21, 2022,

Respondents inspected the leased premises. The passageway to the riser room remained blocked. Lohtsky Aff. at ¶ 8 (R. p. 143) and Watson Aff. at ¶ 9 (R. p. 67). By letter dated April 28, 2022, Respondents again provided notice that the riser room, which should have been cleared by April 6, 2022, remained blocked. Lohtsky Aff. at ¶ 9 (R. pp. 144) and Watson Aff. at ¶ 10 (R. p. 68) and Exhibit F annexed thereto (R. pp. 113-117).

On May 16, 2022, Respondents inspected the premises. Lhotsky Aff. at ¶ 13 (R. p. 144). Once again, the riser room remained blocked. Lhotsky Aff. at ¶ 13 (R. p. 144). This obstruction was originally raised in the March 1 notice received by Appellant on March 7, 2022. Lhotsky Aff. at ¶ 13. (R. p. 144). On May 19, 2022, Respondents sent another notice of default to Appellant. Lhotsky Aff. at ¶ 14 and Exhibit C annexed thereto (R. pp. 145, 153-156).

The Charleston Fire Department ordered the store closed for 30 days on June 2, 2022, because of numerous fire code violations. Watson Aff. at ¶ 12 (R. p. 68), together with Exhibit D annexed thereto (R. p. 105) and Lhotsky Aff. at ¶ 10 (R. p. 144). Appellant willfully disregarded the Fire Department's order closing the premises and unlawfully re-opened on June 27, 2022. Watson Aff. at ¶ 14 (R. p. 68). On July 1, 2022, Respondents inspected the Property yet again. The riser room remained blocked. Lhotsky Aff. at ¶ 15 (R. p. 145).

On July 5, 2022, the fire department conducted a re-inspection and issued another violation notice and closed the store a second time. Watson Aff. at ¶ 17 (R. p. 69) and Exhibit J annexed thereto (R. p. 128). On July 6, 2022, Appellant was issued a summons by the City of Charleston for re-opening a retail location without the required reinspection.¹ Watson Aff. at ¶ 16 (R. p. 69) and Exhibit I annexed thereto (R. p. 127).

B. The Court of Common Pleas properly affirmed the Magistrate's Court Order granting summary judgment because Appellant failed to demonstrate a material fact in dispute by providing competent evidence that Appellant cured

¹ Appellant pled guilty to the fire code violations on December 16, 2022 (Summons Nos. U49010 and U49005).

or was in the process of curing the lease defaults within 30-days of receipt of the notice.

As set forth in the affidavits of Respondents' agents, the notices of default, the accompanying photographs and other documents, Appellant had notice of default concerning the blocked riser room as early as March 7, 2022. The failure to maintain the premises in a safe manner by obeying fire codes is a material breach of the Lease. Appellant did not cure or take any action to cure the fire hazard by April 6 – the contractual deadline to do so. Although the March 1 notice of default and corresponding failure to cure was sufficient for ejectment as of April 6, Respondents sent further notices of default regarding the blocked riser room. Despite receiving additional notices of default (which were not required) and multiple opportunities to cure, Appellant failed to timely do so.

In connection with the summary judgment motions, Appellant submitted the Affidavit of Chris Anton (“Anton Aff.”). (R. pp. 170-173). Mr. Anton attended the hearing on the summary judgment motion. Mr. Anton began his position as district manager with Family Dollar on June 6, 2022. Anton Aff. at ¶ 7. (R. p. 171). Appellant did not produce any evidence that it took steps to timely cure the blocked riser room by April 6, 2022. In fact, Mr. Anton stated in the Reply Affidavit of Chris Anton (“Anton Reply Aff.”), that Appellant did not attempt to cure the blocked riser room until the store was closed by the Charleston Fire Department on June 2, 2022. Specifically, Mr. Anton states:

- Soon after the Fire Marshall closed the store in June, I escalated the matter and began taking steps to cure the alleged defaults asserted by Respondents. Anton Reply Aff. at ¶ 4. (R. p. 134).
- After the initial closure in June, my team and I worked to make sure the fire marshal's concerns were addressed. We resolved the major concerns, including ensuring appropriate ingress and egress points were not blocked and that access to the riser room was clear. Anton Reply Aff. at ¶ 9. (R. p. 134).

In order to successfully assert a material fact in dispute, Appellant had to demonstrate through competent evidence that it cured the blocked riser room default by April 6, 2022, or was in the process of doing so by such date. At the summary judgment hearing, the Court took the unusual step of permitting the Appellant to make a proffer, identify any facts, or witnesses refuting Respondents' affidavit testimony that notice of the blocked riser room was received on March 7, 2002, and the blockage was not (i) corrected or (ii) in the process of being corrected within the 30-day limit. The Appellant was unable to do so. Magistrates' Return and Order Granting Plaintiffs' Motion for Summary Judgment ("Summary Judgment Order") at ¶¶ 13-14 (R. p. 4 and R. pp. 191-192). Respondents' Affidavits, multiple default letters and photographs attached thereto, demonstrate – overwhelmingly and uncontestably – that Appellant did not cure or attempt to cure within the 30-day cure period.

None of the testimony contained in Appellant's affidavits filed prior to the summary judgment hearing assert that Appellant cured (or attempted to cure) the fire hazard by April 6, 2022. (R. p. 4). Nearly two weeks after the hearing, Appellant served the Supplemental Affidavit of Star Quinn ("Quinn Aff."). (R. pp. 186-187). The Magistrates' Court did not issue an order authorizing the parties to supplement the record. Respondents objected to the Court's consideration of the Quinn Aff. because the Quinn Aff. was not timely filed and served. Moreover, Ms. Quinn was not disclosed as a witness in Appellant's Pre-Trial Report. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Quinn Aff. does not establish a material fact in dispute.

The March 1 notice of default cites the International Fire Code regarding the blocked riser room. Appellant received this notice on March 7, 2022. Lhotsky Aff. at ¶ 6 (R. p. 143) and Exhibit A annexed thereto. (R. p. 147). Ms. Starr testifies that at some unknown point in time prior to June 2, she cleared the riser room and attaches a photograph from September 27, 2022, in support of

that statement. Quinn Aff. at ¶¶ 3, 7. (R. pp. 186-187). Appellant still did not produce any evidence that the riser room was cleared or was in the process of being cleared by April 6.

Appellant alleges that the Magistrate's decision rests on a misstatement of fact. Namely, the Magistrate incorrectly relied on the Fire Marshall's report of June 2, 2022. However, the Summary Judgment Order does not rely on the Fire Marshall's report. Rather, the Summary Judgment Order is clear – Appellant failed to provide a scintilla of evidence that the blocked riser room fire hazard was corrected (or in the process of being corrected) by April 6, 2022. The Court relied upon Respondent's affidavits and the attached exhibits. Respondents' testimony and evidence was not disputed by affidavit testimony, a proposed proffer or other evidence of the Appellant. See Summary Judgment Order at ¶¶ 5, 7, 13, 14 and 15. (R. pp. 190-192).

Appellant alleges that the notices of default were defective because the letters provided a 10-day cure period instead of the 30-day period. Appellant's argument is of no avail. Appellant is a sophisticated commercial enterprise and knows the terms of its lease and that it had 30-days to cure nonmonetary defaults. Nevertheless, Respondents gave multiple notices of default – none of which were required. Appellant was not prejudiced in any manner concerning the discrepancy regarding the appropriate cure period because Appellant waited more than 30 days to commence the ejectment process.

C. The Kiriakides factors favor Respondents.

In determining whether a failure to render or to offer performance under a commercial lease is material, the following circumstances are significant:

- (a) the extent to which the injured party will be deprived of the benefit which he reasonably expected;
- (b) the extent to which the injured party can be adequately compensated [by damages] for the part of that benefit of which he will be deprived;

- (c) the extent to which the party failing to perform or to offer to perform will suffer forfeiture;
- (d) the likelihood that the party failing to perform or to offer to perform will cure his failure, taking account of all the circumstances including any reasonable assurances;
- (e) the extent to which the behavior of the party failing to perform or to offer to perform comports with standards of good faith and fair dealing.

Kiriakides v. United Artists Communications, Inc., 312 S.C. 271, 276, 440 S.E.2d 364, 366-67 (S.C. 1993).

As to first factor, Appellant's refusal to timely cure the fire hazard jeopardizes the safety of the shopping center, its customers, vendors, employees, and Respondents. The requirement to maintain a safe condition is not a technical term buried in the boiler plate of a lease. Rather it is a primary concern for the Respondents as failure to abide by simple safety rules places both people and the structure itself in danger and potentially exposes Respondents to legal liability. Similarly, Respondents cannot be adequately compensated by monetary damages because of the danger of personal injury to numerous parties.

It cannot be said that Appellant would suffer a forfeiture. Obviously affirming the Order would result in the Appellant's disposition from the leased premises, but that does not constitute a forfeiture. Appellant failed to conform with the health and safety provisions of the Lease and the City Code. Despite repeated written notices to cure, Appellant failed to do so. Dollar Tree, Inc., Appellant's parent company, is ranked 137 on the Fortune 500 list and operates more than 16,000 stores across the 48 contiguous states and five Canadian provinces with more than 200,000 associates. *Watson Aff.* at ¶ 4. (R. p. 67). Appellant has sufficient resources and was given ample opportunity to comply with basic fire code safety. The decision to obey fire code provisions was in the total control of the Appellant. Appellant was not dependent on third parties to perform the work nor did the Appellant require goods or machinery to complete the task which may have been

unavailable. Appellant simply chose not to cure timely. Any purported forfeiture is simply the foreseeable consequences of the Appellant's business decision to consciously disregard the safety of the premises.

The remaining two factors also favor of the Respondents. Appellant received multiple notices from the Respondents. Appellant had the opportunity to correct the hazardous condition. Appellant did not take corrective action until the store was closed by the Charleston Fire Department. Anton Reply Aff. at ¶ 9. (R. p. 134). Appellant did not respond to the notices of default sent by Respondents or dispute the validity of the allegations. Lhotsky Aff. at ¶ 18. (R. p. 145). Appellant's continued disregard of the safety of the leased premises does not evidence good faith.

This case is distinguishable from the Appellants in Kiriakides. In Kiriakides, the Appellant acted in good faith and attempted to promptly comply by paying the landlord. The landlord rejected those payments. Here, Appellant did not make any attempt to cure until it had no other option.

The Magistrate's Court properly applied the Kiriakides factors and ruled the blockage of the riser room was a material default under the Lease and ejectment was proper.

CONCLUSION

Appellant has not submitted any evidence that it cured or attempted to cure the breach of the lease within 30 days of its receipt of notice of default period. Because there was an absence of material facts in dispute, the Magistrate's Court properly granted Respondents' motion for summary judgment which was properly affirmed by the Court of Common Pleas. Respondents

request that the Court deny the appeal, affirm the orders issued by lower courts, and grant such other and further relief as is just and necessary.